# Forage palatability of Broussonetia papyrifera an invasive species in Ghana: Relative preference and palatability by sheep and goats

Obour, R. <sup>1\*</sup>, Oppong, S. K. <sup>2</sup>, Abebrese, I. K. <sup>3</sup>

#### Abstract

Broussonetia papyrifera is an exotic tree widely grown for paper production. Due to its prolific regeneration it has invaded forest canopy gaps and degraded farmlands and has now become an invasive species in Ghana. In enhancing its value for use the plant was evaluated as potential forage for grazing animals vis-à-vis other two existing forage plants: Ficus exasperata and Leucaena leucocephala. The study assessed the palatability and preference of Broussonetia papyrifera using sheep and goats for the wet and dry seasons. The species were assessed in indoor pen feeding trials using eight-unit  $(3 \times 3 \text{ m})$  pens with the cafeteria method. The amount of forage offered was 100g (fresh material) in all instances for each species and for ten minutes. Adesign based on  $3 \times 2 \times 2$  factorial in Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) was used to test the differences in palatability between the three forage species. Results revealed that palatability was higher (P<0.05) in Leucaena leucocephala compared with Ficus exasperata and Broussonetia papyrifera for sheep and goats across seasons. The trend shown might be the result of the effects of familiarity with the Leucaena leucocephala since animals tend to select plants that are familiar than newly introduced and unfamiliar plants. The study also revealed high level of condensed tannin (CT) in Broussonetia papyrifera which might have interfered with forage intake by the animals. There were no significant differences in palatability of Broussonetia papyrifera for goat in both dry and wet season interactions and Ficus exasperata for goat in both dry and wet season interactions (P>0.05). The study concluded that Broussonetia papyrifera could be a potential feed for both sheep and goats across seasons. The research recommended that livestock farmers should incorporate Broussonetia papyrifera feed into their programmes for both sheep and goats and should be introduced to animals from infancy so that it may become a familiar feed for them.

#### Keywords

Invasive species—Broussonetia papyrifer—Leucaena leucocephala—Ficus exasperata—Palatability—Preference

<sup>1,3</sup>School of Natural Resources, University of Energy and Natural Resources, Sunyani Ghana

<sup>2</sup> Faculty of Renewable Natural Resources, College of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi, Ghana.

\*Corresponding author: richard.obour@uenr.edu.gh

#### Contents

1	INTRODUCTION	63
2	MATERIAL AND METHODS	64
2.1	Study area and Sample collection	64
2.2	Data Collection and Statistical Analysis	64
2.3	Experimental treatments, procedure and design $\ldots$ .	64
2.4	Experimental design	65
2.5	Data analysis	65
3	RESULTS	65
3.1	Forage palatability of goats and sheep across the seasons	66
3.2	Effect of species, animals and seasons on forage palatability 66	ility
4	DISCUSSION	66
4.1	effect of secondary metabolites on selection and palatability of forages	ility 66
4.2	Preference for forage species by sheep and goats across seasons	the 67

4.3	Palatability of forage species by sheep and goats across	the
	seasons	67
5	CONCLUSION	68
6	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	68
Ref	erences	68

### 1. INTRODUCTION

Broussonetia papyrifera (paper mulberry) is an exotic tree species of the moraceae family native of the Indo-Malayan region, China, Japan and the pacific region. It is widely grown for paper production in its native home [1]. *Broussonetia papyrifera* was introduced into Ghana by the Forestry Research Institute of Ghana (FORIG) in 1969 to form part of an experimental programme to identify species for the local production of industrial cellulose [2]. However, due to its prolific regeneration pattern it got out of hand and invaded large canopy gaps and degraded farmlands in and outside the two forest reserves that it was introduced.

## Forage palatability of Broussonetia papyrifera an invasive species in Ghana: Relative preference and palatability by sheep and goats — 64/70

Recently, however, it is being argued that means of enhancing the value of *Broussonetia papyrifera* for use must be exploited rather than eradication. Farmers in the invaded areas in Ghana use the bark as one of the reliable materials for tying goods while the wood serves as a highly inflammable low density fuel wood. There are claims by some farmers of good food crop yield on soils under Broussonetia stands. The leaves of the species are also used by farmers in the invaded areas to feed livestock. especially during the dry season [3]. [4] (1988) in a study in China observed high protein content and good efficiency of nitrogen utilization in Broussonetia papyrifera when fed to Formosa Sika deer. However, this results, which is animal-specific does not represent the general situation. The feeding value of a forage is a function of both intake and nutritive value [5], and intake can be influenced by forage palatability [6]. Since variations in nutritive value of a species when planted outside its geographical range is possible, there is the need to carry out thorough studies on Broussonetia papyrifera in Ghana to unearth its forage potential.

The taxonomy [7], reproduction [8], physical and mechanical properties [9] and uses [10] of Broussonetia papyrifera have been well documented. Studies done in Ghana on the species by [11] include the seedling growth response to light and drought, fruiting and viability patterns, seed dispersal mechanisms, preferred micro sites, competitive ability in association with some indigenous forest tree species, natural regeneration and its recoverv after fire. The nutritive value and palatability of the species have, however, not been investigated, thus making it difficult to assess its potential contribution to sustain animal production. The study was, therefore, conducted with the following specific objectives: (a) to assess the palatability and preference of Broussonetia papyrifera and two known browse species (b) to compare the effect of animal type and seasons on the palatability of the study species.

The main aim is to incorporate *Broussonetia papyrifera* as feed sources for small ruminant livestock especially during the dry season as part of the efforts at ensuring food and income security of livestock farmers in the *Broussonetia papyrifera* invaded areas of Ghana.

### 2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

### 2.1 Study area and Sample collection

The study was carried out at the University of Energy and Natural Resources (UENR) campus in the Sunyani Municipality in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana during the late-dry and early-rainy seasons. The site is located between latitudes  $70^{\circ}35'$  N and longitudes  $20^{\circ}00'$ and  $20^{\circ}30'W$ . The district falls within the Wet Semi-Equatorial climate zone with mean monthly temperature varying between  $23^{\circ}$ C and  $33^{\circ}$ C. It experiences two rainfall regimes with 1296.3mm as annual mean. The major rainy season occurs from April to the end of July, while the period from September to late October is the minor season [12]. The soils of the area are made up of ferric acrisols [13].

Forages for the experiment; Broussonetia papyrifera, Ficus exasperata and Leucaena leucocephala, were collected from the Tano South District in the Brong Ahafo Region. The area lies between latitudes  $7^{\circ}00'$  and  $7^{\circ}25'$ north and between longitudes  $1^{\circ}45'$  and  $2^{\circ}15'$  west. It lies in the Dry Semi- deciduous Forest Zone (DSDFZ) of Ghana with the semi-equatorial climatic type which experiences double maximum rainfall pattern, from April to July and from September to October [14]. The mean annual rainfall is 1304.3mm. The dry season occurs between the months of November and March. Mean monthly temperatures range between  $22^{\circ}$ C (August) and  $30^{\circ}$ C (March) [12]. The soil of the area consists of forest ochrosols and the rubrisol-ochrosol intergrades. They are alkaline and are more richly supplied with nutrients.

### 2.2 Data Collection and Statistical Analysis 2.2.1 Selection of investigated plant material

The investigated species were selected based on the fact that Broussonetia papyrifera, an invasive and non-leguminous plant, has never been investigated for its forage potential, although there are reports that certain livestock feed on it in the invaded areas. Ficus exasperata is also a common and widespread non-leguminous forage species which is available throughout the seasons. It is also judged by livestock farmers, who have fairly accurate knowledge of plants eaten by their livestock, to be palatable to goats and sheep. However, Leucaena leucocephala, is a leguminous forage plant with known nutritional quality which could be compared with these non-leguminous plants. It is also recommended as a palatable forage species for ruminant livestock. Leucaena leucocephala is also available in almost every geographical location in Ghana and grows fast [15]. Both Broussonetia papyrifera [16] and Leucaena *leucocephala* [17] are classified as invasive species. Also, both Broussonetia papyrifera and Ficus exasperata belong to the same family Moraceae.

# 2.3 Experimental treatments, procedure and design2.3.1 Collection and sample preparation of forages

Forages were collected daily by cutting with cutlass and knife. Forages were stored in moisture free environment overnight after harvesting. *Broussonetia papyrifera* and *Ficus exasperata* leaves were manually chopped into smaller sizes relative to that of *Leucaena leucocephala* to promote similar conditions in feed presentation.

#### 2.3.2 Animal selection, care and feeding trials

The animals were selected based on age, sex, live-weight, health and vigour to prevent exhibition of hierarchical behaviour and the effect of different physiological stature. Palatability of the forage species to sheep and goats were

# Forage palatability of Broussonetia papyrifera an invasive species in Ghana: Relative preference and palatability by sheep and goats — 65/70

assessed in indoor feeding trials in eight-unit  $(3 \times 3 \text{ m})$ pens using the cafeteria approach. Four healthy one-year and one-month old goats (average live weight, 10.4kg) and also four one-year and six months old sheep (average live weight, 23kg) were preconditioned in individual crates using the three forages during the ten days of adaptation period as recommended by [18] during which they were confined and given all the experimental feeds together ad libitum preceding each palatability run. This unit permits individual attention and facilitates separate collection of data. Harvested forages from the three plants were fed fresh to individually housed sheep and goats. Forages individually contained in feeding crates were offered to the animals. Consumption of the feeds by individual animals was monitored from 8.00am-10.00am daily. The amount of forage offered was 100g (green material) in all instances and all the three forages were offered simultaneously for 10minutes. At the end of the feeding period these three forages offered were removed. The weights of residual material were recorded and amount of consumption of each forage material calculated.

After withdrawal of the experimental feeds, the animals were placed on Elephant grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*), cassava leaves, maize bran and pito waste as a supplement feed allowing them to meet their requirement (at least maintenance) till the following morning. Each assessment was completed in one day and were repeated. Pens were cleaned daily as well as the feeding and water troughs. Animals had access to drinking water at all times. The animals were weighed monthly before the morning feeding and also provided for their comfort within the limits of the trial objectives. The three species were compared against one another in two seasons, the dry season and the wet season. At each seasonal run, each forage was offered ten times to one goat and also ten times to one sheep. Each sheep and goat tested the same number of pairs of each assessment in the dry and wet seasons. Goats and sheep were randomly allocated to alternate feeding crates to achieve a balanced design and to avoid a 'habit reflex'.

#### 2.3.3 Preference and palatability rating procedures

Preference was calculated for each forage, separately for sheep and goats, as the total weight of the forage which was consumed divided by the total weight of all forages consumed in all comparisons involving that forage expressed as a percentage and therefore have a potential maximum of 100 (totally preferred) and 0 (totally rejected).Means are ranked for each animal species, and separated into classes of high (>60%), medium (35-55%) and low preference (<25%) [19].

Palatability ranking of browsing species is determined using indexes calculated as the ratio between biomass consumed and biomass offered or simply by reference to the time spent by the animal eating a given specie as classification criteria [20]. Palatability was calculated

daily for each forage, separately for sheep and goats, by dividing the daily consumption (weight) by the total weight of that forage offered and expressed as a percentage and therefore have a potential maximum of 100 (highly palatable) and 0 (totally rejected). Means are ranked for each animal species, and separated into classes of high (>60%), medium (35-55%) and low palatability (<25%) [19]. However, palatability and preference have been used as synonyms [21].

### 2.4 Experimental design

A design based on  $3 \times 2 \times 2$  factorial in Randomised Complete Block Design (RCBD) was used to test the differences in palatability between the three forage species; *Broussonetia papyrifera*, *Ficus exasperata* and *Leucaena leucocephala*, consumed by sheep and goats during the dry and wet season's assessments.

#### 2.5 Data analysis

The General Linear Model Procedure of Statistical Analytical System [22] was used to analyse the data. The unit of observation for forage palatability was the proportion or percentage (%) of forage consumed. The proportion or the amount (%) of each of the investigated forage species consumed by sheep and goats for the ten days of data collection was computed for significant treatment means during the dry and wet season's assessments. The values determined were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA). Significant different means were separated using the least square mean (LSM) analysis procedure. The interactive effect of forage species, animals and season on forage palatability was analysed

### 3. RESULTS

Preferences of goats and sheep for *Broussonetia papyrifera*, *Leucaena leucocephala* and *Ficus exasperata* across the seasons is presented in Tables 1 and 2. Throughout the seasons the preference for *Broussonetia papyriferaand*, *Ficus exasperata* for goats was ranked low while preference for *Leucaena leucocephala* was ranked high. In the case of sheep, *Leucaena leucocephala* was ranked as medium while *Broussonetia papyrifera* and *Ficus exasperata* had a low preference.

**Table 1.** Preference of goats for forages. Values aremeans across seasons

FORAGE SPECIES	MEAN VALUE (%)	PREFERENCE CLASS
Broussonetia papyrifera	12.55	low
Leucaena leucocephala	80.74	high
Ficus exasperata	6.83	low

Means are ranked for each animal species, and separated into classes of high (>60%), medium (35-55%) and low preference (<25%) [19].

Table 2.	Preference	of goats	for f	forages.	Values a	$\operatorname{are}$
means ac	ross seasons	5				

FORAGE SPECIES	MEAN VALUE (%)	PREFERENCE CLASS
Broussonetia papyrifera	17.33	low
Leucaena leucocephala	50.93	medium
Ficus exasperata	31.85	low

Means are ranked for each animal species, and separated into classes of high (>60%), medium (35-55%) and low preference (<25%) [19].

# 3.1 Forage palatability of goats and sheep across the seasons

Palatability of goats and sheep for *Broussonetia papyrifera*, *Leucaena leucocephala and Ficus exasperata* across the seasons is presented in Tables 3 and 4. Throughout the seasons the palatability for *Broussonetia papyriferaand*, *Ficus exasperata* for goats was ranked low while palatability for *Leucaena leucocephala* was ranked high. In the case of sheep *Leucaena leucocephala and Ficus exasperata* were ranked as high while *Broussonetia papyrifera* had low palatability.

**Table 3.** Palatability of forages by goats. Values aremeans

FORAGE SPECIES	DRY	WET	ACROSS SEASONS
Broussonetia papyrifera	12.23(low)	17.38(low)	14.81(low)/2nd
Leucaena leucocephala	87.28(high)	92.25(high)	89.77(high)/1st
Ficus exasperata	6.75(low)	8.30(low)	7.25(low)/3rd

Means are ranked for each animal species, and separated into classes of high (>60%), medium (35-55%) and low preference (<25%) [19].

**Table 4.** Palatability of forages by sheep. Values aremeans

FORAGE SPECIES	DRY	WET	ACROSS SEASONS
Broussonetia papyrifera	29.95(low)	$\begin{array}{c} 35.50 ({\rm medium}) \\ 94.43 ({\rm high}) \\ 59.55 ({\rm high}) \end{array}$	32.73(low)/3rd
Leucaena leucocephala	97.43(high)		95.93(high)/ 1st
Ficus exasperata	60.33(high)		60.00(high)/ 2nd

Means are ranked for each animal species, and separated into classes of high (>60%), medium (35-55%) and low preference (<25%) [19].

# 3.2 Effect of species, animals and seasons on forage palatability

The mean values of forage palatability due to interactive effects of species, animals and seasons are presented in Table 5. The most palatable species was found in the *Leucaena*-sheep-dry season interaction. This result is, however, not significantly different from *Leucaena*-sheep-wet season interaction and similar to both *Leucaena*-goat-dry season and *Leucaena*-goat-wet season interactions (P<0.05). In all comparisons the effects of *Leucaena* 

on goats and sheep in both dry and wet seasons were significantly different from all other comparisons involving *Broussonetia papyrifera* and *Ficus exasperata* (P<0.05).

The interactions of Ficus-sheep-dry season and Ficussheep-wet season ranked second and intermediate between most palatable and least palatable. These interactions were significantly different from all other comparisons. The Ficus-goat-dry season and Ficus-goat-wet season interactions were similar to Broussonetia-goat-dry season and Broussonetia-goat-wet season interactions and ranked the least palatable (P < 0.05). The interactions of Broussonetia-sheep-dry season and Broussonetia-sheepwet season are not significantly different (P>0.05). These results are, however, different fromall other comparisons (Table 5). Generally, the palatability rating based on the effect of species, animals and seasons are as follows: (a) Leucaena (goat and sheep) > (b) Ficus (sheep) > (c) Broussonetia(sheep) > (d) Broussonetia and Ficus(goats)across the seasons.

**Table 5.** The effect of species, animals and seasons on forage palatability

FORAGE SPECIES	ANIMALS	SEASONS	PALATABILITY
			(LSM values)
Broussonetia papyrifera	Goat	Dry	12.23d
		Wet	17.38d
	Sheep	Dry	29.95c
	Wet	35.50c	
Ficus exasperate	Goat	Dry	6.75d
-		Wet	8.30d
	Sheep	Drv	60.33b
	1	Wet	59.55b
Leucaena leucocephala	Goat	Dry	87.28a
*		Wet	92.25a
	Sheep	Drv	97.43a
	1	Wet	94.43a
SEM			4.01

Means in the same column followed by the same lowercase letters (a, b) are not significantly different at 5% significance level. SEM = Standard Error of the

Mean LSM = Least Square Mean

### 4. DISCUSSION

### 4.1 effect of secondary metabolites on selection and palatability of forages

Broussonetia papyrifera was least selected and least palatable among the investigated forages probably as a result of the high condensed tannin concentration in the forage. Condensed tannins as secondary metabolites have evolved as a defence mechanism of woody plants against herbivory. This is an adaptive mechanism used by woody plants growing on low fertility soils [23] to compensate for their inability to grow rapidly beyond the reach of most browsing animals. The level of condensed tannin in Broussonetia papyrifera (6.96%-7.09%DM or 69.60g/kg-70.90g/kg DM) could render it not beneficial to ruminants. Condensed tannin at low concentrations (20-40g/kg DM) are nutritionally beneficial through decreased degradation of dietary protein in the rumen, and increased protein availability for digestion and absorption leading to good animal performance [24].

Abundant evidence shows that food selection and ingestion is regulated by toxins rather than by inhibition of protein or carbohydrate digestion [25]. Broussonetia papyrifera with relatively high levels of condensed tannin also contain high amounts of nutrients and minerals, but the astringent sensation animals probably experienced when consuming it may lead to its rejection, which could be a nutritional mistake [26]. The rejection of condensed tannin containing plants or plant parts is presumably an evolved response by animals to the negative effects tanning have on forage digestibility and therefore animal fitness [27]. In this study results indicate a negative correlation between condensed tannin content and palatability. However, the high condensed tannin concentration did not influence the in vitro organic matter digestibility (IVOMD) of Broussonetia papyrifera to a greater extent contrary to the observation made by [28]. There is recent evidence that some runnial micro-organisms are able to remain active in a high tannin environment and may be used as inoculants to overcome the detrimental effects of tannins in ruminants [29].

# 4.2 Preference for forage species by sheep and goats across the seasons

Preference for Leucaena leucocephala was the highest (>60%) for goats across the seasons while Broussonetia papyrifera and Ficus exasperata recorded low preference (<25%). The investigation also revealed medium preference for Leucaena leucocephala by sheep while Broussonetia papyrifera and Ficus exasperata recorded low preference. The sheep and goats exhibited different preferences for the three forages. However, the differences were moderate in magnitude, as in no instance did one species have a low preference for forage highly preferred by the other.

In this study, preference parameter such as ether extract was highest in *Broussonetia papyrifera*. This results, however, contradicts the findings of [30] that high total ether extract indicates high preference since Broussonetia papyrifera with the highest ether extract was the least preferred among the investigated species. [31] also found that increased fats resulted in greater preference which was at variance with the results of this study. In plants as proteins, sugars, fats and preferred components of ether extract increase in percentage composition, lignin and crude fiber decrease. However, there were positive correlations of lignin and crude fiber with increased preference in the study conducted pertaining to the high preference of Leucaena leucocephala. The findings that Broussonetia papyrifera recorded the highest level of condensed tannin and was the least preferred forage is supported by

[32] who reported a high negative relationship between tannin and preference by cattle for *lespedeza* varieties. The forage species with the highest lignin concentration also had the highest percentage of crude protein. Many conflicting results are reported in this study concerning what chemical components influence forage preference. The extremes are shown by the positive correlation in the study in contrast to the conclusion that there seems to be no consistent correlation between chemical composition of forage and its preference [30].

Although a preference test gives a useful insight into the relative palatability of feeds to animals not previously accustomed to them, and requires much smaller quantities of feed material than conventional feeding trials, the limitation is that the intake of any given feed will depend to a large extent on what else is available to the animal. Less palatable feeds should not necessarily be written off as it is possible that animals would become accustomed to them, given an adequate period of adaptation. It should be noted, however, that relative palatabilities will also vary with animal species; for instance, [33] found that relative palatability index values for goats were more than double those for sheep. Digestibility had been indicated to influence forage preference such that the highly digestible forages would be more favoured [34]. However, in such short-term trials like those in the present study, it is unlikely that digestibility of materials would have influence preference. On the other hand, tastes and odour of the feeds could also have applied in the observed situation, as was the case in the studies of [35]. The low preference, confirmed by observations, of both sheep and goats for Broussonetia papyrifera means it is not suitable as a sole feed for animals.

# 4.3 Palatability of forage species by sheep and goats across the seasons

Palatability of Leucaena leucocephala was the highest (>60%) for goats across the seasons with Broussonetia papyrifera and Ficus exasperata recording low palatability (<25%). The investigation also revealed high palatability of Leucaena leucocephala and Ficus exasperata by sheep (>60%) while Broussonetia papyrifera recorded low palatability (<25%). The difference might be due to factors which influence palatability such as animal and non-animal factors [36]. Animal factors which might probably influence palatability in this study are feeding preferences, species of animals, age and degree of maturity of the animal. Non-animal factors that might have influenced palatability in this study include season and growth stage of the plant, associated plants differences and also physical characteristics of the plant.

Although protein shows the best correlation of all chemical ingredients with preference of forages by livestock, several investigators believe that total nutritive value of the plant is better indicator of palatability [37]. The results of the study might be probably due to the combination of several of these factors. Research suggests that palatability is more than a matter of taste; instead, it is the interrelationship between a food's flavour and its postingestive effects. Feedback is positive, increases palatability, if the food meets nutritional needs. Feedback is negative, decrease palatability, if the food is inadequate or excessive relative to nutritional needs or contains high levels of toxins [38]. Postingestive feedback influences an animals liking for a food (palatability) and that depends on how well a food meets the needs of the body.

## 5. CONCLUSION

In achieving a more efficient system of green feeding it is necessary to introduce new field cropping species in ruminant nutrition as green forage in which nutritional value and palatability have not been evaluated. In this research analysis were conducted on palatability and preference of *Broussonetia papyrifera* vis-à-vis *Leucaena leucocephala* and *Ficus exasperata*. The ten days adaptation period probably was enough to help the bucks and ram to become consistent in the order of preference and palatability of the experimental feeds on the ten days of the actual experiment.

Leucaena leucocephala was the most preferred and palatable species followed by *Ficus exasperata* while *Brous*sonetia papyrifera was the least preferred by sheep in both the dry and wet seasons. Goats highly preferred Leucaena *leucocephala* to the other forages in all the seasons. However, preference for Ficus exasperata and Broussonetia papyrifera did not vary much. The animals displayed preference for Leucaena leucocephala probably because they were familiar with the plant. In spite of the generally low preference of *Broussonetia papyrifera* by sheep and goats across the seasons, it showed a great potential as forage. The trials indicated low intake of Broussonetia papyrifera probably because the plant contain certain levels of anti-nutritional properties like tannin which affect palatability and intake of browse. In many cases the seasons of the experimental year did not cause a higher difference in preference and palatability than between the treatments (forages) within a year. However, goats and sheep consumed more of Broussonetia papyrifera in the wet season than the dry season probably because of dilution effect on the plant nutrients during the wet season. Consumption of Broussonetia papyrifera appeared to be slow at the initial stages, presumably, because it was relatively unfamiliar and could affect its palatability. Intake of Broussonetia papyrifera did not increase with time to the extent of Leucaena leucocephala, however, there was a gradual increase in its consumption. Broussonetia papyrifera was therefore not totally rejected. The high palatability of *Leucaena leucocephala* could pose management problems, as it may be selectively grazed by both sheep and goats. The study has shown that sheep and goats prefer forages variously and that this type of

study could aid in the planning of supplemental feeding programs for ruminant animals.

The conclusion drawn regarding the value of Broussonetia papyrifera as a source of fodder for ruminants is that it is inadequate as the ruminant's sole source of nutrients. This is attributed to possibility of the forage containing a certain level tannin content that has been shown to have an inverse relationship with voluntary intake, digestibility, preference as well as palatability in ruminants. The potential of *Broussonetia papyrifera* as a supplementary feed should not be discounted because of the possibility of its high condensed tannin concentration. The all year round forage yield is advantageous. With so many desirable attributes, both physically and nutritionally, of *Broussonetia papyrifera* as a fodder tree, one would surely consider it as a challenge to overcome its limitations in becoming a valuable source of feed. It is recommended that livestock farmers should incorporate Broussonetia papyrifera feed into their programmes for both sheep and goats. Broussonetia papyrifera should be introduced to animals from infancy so that it may become a familiar feed for them. However, until consumption of Broussonetia papyrifera is appreciable it may not be advisable to include it as a basic component of the diet for ruminants otherwise they may suffer from starvation.

### 6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We gratefully acknowledge the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) for funding this research through a collaborative project on Agroforestry Practices to Enhance Livelihoods of the Resource Poor (APERL).We express our indebtedness to Mr. Samuel Addai (Chief Technician) of the Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology laboratory of Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology (KNUST) for the analysis of the forage samples.

#### References

- JACLANE, D. Y. AND COLUMBERS, E. L. (1957). Comparative merits of three packing media in the storage of Paper Mulbery (B. papyrifera) by root sprouts. Philippines Journal of Forestry 13: 135-145.
- [2] ANONYMOUS. (1970).Forest Products Research Institute Annual Report, pp 66.
- [3] FOLI, E. G. (2006). Community forestry management project on farm research services. Report submitted to the Forest Plantation Development Centre, Ministry of Lands, Forestry and Mines.
- [4] LIN, F. D., YOUNG, S. K. AND SHIH, C. H.(1988). The apparent digestibilities, nitrogen and energy balances of common roughages. Journal of Chinese Society of Animal Science 17.

- [5] ULYAAT, M. J. (1973). The feeding value of herbage. In: Butler GW and Bailey RW eds. Chemistry and Biochemistry of herbage. Academic press, London and New York.pp 131-178.
- [6] ARNOLD, G.W., DE BOER, G. AND BOUNDY, C. A. P. (1980). The influences of odour and taste on food preferences and food intake of sheep. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research31: 571-585.
- [7] LIAO, J. C. (1989). A taxonomic review of the family Moraceae in Taiwan. 1. Genera Artocarpus, Broussonetia papyrifera and Fatuoa. Quarterly Journal of the Experimental Forest of National Taiwan University3: 145-151.
- [8] JACALNE, D. Y. (1959). Reproduction of Paper Mulberry (Broussonetia papyrifera) by root sprouts. Philippines Journal of Forestry 15: 1-12.
- [9] WELLE, B. J. H; KOEK- NOORMAN, J. AND TOPPER, S. M. (1986). The systematic wood anatomy of the Moraceae (Uticales). IV. General of the tribe Moreae with uticaceous stamens. IAWA Bulletin 7: 91-128.
- [10] MARTEN, K. D. (1975). Broussonetia papyrifera- a weed tree? Research Report. Forest Division, Solomon Islands. No. /5/2/75 3pp.
- [11] AGYEMAN, V. K. (2000). Natural regeneration of tropical timber tree species under *Broussonetia papyrifera*: Implications for natural forest management in Ghana. African Academy of Sciences (AAS). Research Report Series.
- [12] METEOROLOGICAL AGENCY (MA). (2012). Regional Meteorological Agency. Sunyani. Ghana.
- [13] FAO. (1990). Soil Map of the World. Revised Legend. 4th Draft. FAO, Rome.
- [14] HALL, J. B. AND SWAINE, M. D. (1981). Distribution and ecology of vascular plants in a tropical rain forest. Forest vegetation in Ghana. Geobotany 1. The Hague.
- [15] AMISAH, S., OTENG, M. A. AND OFORI, J. K. (2008). Growth performance of the African Catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*, fed varying inclusion leaves of *Leucaena leucocephala*. Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management.Vol. 13 No. 1 pp 21-26.
- [16] MALIK, R. N. AND HUSAIN, S. Z. (2006). Classification and ordination of vegetation communities of the Lohibehr reserve forest and its surrounding areas, Rawalpindi, Pakistan. Pakistan Journal of Botany 38: 543-558.
- [17] HUGHES, C. (2006). Global Invasive Species Database. In: Pacific Islands Ecosystems at Risk. Department of Plant Science, University of Oxford. UK.

- [18] TOPPS, J. H. (2012). Assessment of forage Legumes as Protein-rich Supplement: In:Ruminant Production Systems in Zimbabwe. In: Sustainable Feed Production and Utilization for Smallholder Livestock Enterprises. Proceedings of the Second African Feed Resources Network (AFRNET) Workshop held in Harare, Zimbabwe (16-10 December, 1993). (Eds. 1 Ndikumana and P. de Leeuw, 1993). pp 69 –72.
- [19] LAMBERT, M. G., JUNG, G. A., FLETCHER, R. H. AND BUDDING, P. J. (1989). Forage shrubs in North Island hill country. 2. Sheep and goat preferences. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 32: 485- 490.
- [20] SALEM, H. B., NEFZAOUI, A. AND ABDOULI, H. (1992). Palatability of shrubs and fodder trees measured on sheep and camels. INRA of Tunisia, Laboratory of Animal Nutrition. 2049 Arian. Tunisia.
- [21] IVINS, J. D. (1952). The relative palatability of herbage plants. J. Br. Grass. Soc.7:43-54
- [22] SAS. (1999). SAS user's guide, release version 8 Edition. SAS institute, Cary North Carolina, United States of America.
- [23] JACKSON, F. S., BARRY, T. N., LASCANO, C. AND PALMER, B. (1996). The extractable and bound condensed tannin content of leaves from tropical tree, shrub and forage legumes. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture71 (1):103-110.
- [24] WAGHORN, G. C., JONES, W. T., SHELTON, I. D. AND MCNABB, W. C. (1990). Condensed tannins and the nutritive value of herbage. Proceedings of the New Zealand Association 51:171-176.
- [25] BRYANT, J. P., PROVENZA, F. D., PASTOR, J., REICHARDT, P. B., CLAUSEN, T. P. AND DU TOIT, J. T. (1991). Interactions between woody plants and browsing mammals mediated by secondary metabolites. Animal Review of Ecological Systems22: 431-446.
- [26] PROVENZA, F. D., BURRIT, E.A., CLAUSEN, T. P., BRYANT, J. P. AND REICHARDT, P. B. (1991). Conditioned flavour aversion: A mechanism for goats to avoid condensed tannins in black-brush. The American Naturalist 136: 810-828.
- [27] RHOADES, D. F (1979). Evolution of the plant chemical defense against herbivore: In:Rosenthal, GA and Janzen, D.H.eds. Herbivore interactions with Secondary plant metabolites. Academic press, New York, pp4-54.
- [28] NORTON, B. W. (1994b). Anti-nutritive and toxic factors in forage tree legumes. In: Gutteridge, R. C. and Shelton, H. M. Forage tree legumes in Tropical Agriculture. CAB International. UK, pp 202-215.

- [29] NORTON, B. W. (1994a). Tree legumes as dietary supplements for ruminants. In: Gutteridge, R. C. and Shelton, H. M. Forage tree legumes in Tropical Agriculture. CAB International. UK, pp 191-201.
- [30] HARDISON, W. A., REID, J. T., MARTIN, C. M. AND WOOLFOLK, P. G. (1954). Degree of herbage selection by grazing cattle. Journal of Diary Science 37: 89-102.
- [31] BLASER, R. E., HAMES, R. C., BRYANT, H. T., HARDISON, W. A., FONTENOT, J. P. AND ENGEL, R. W. (1960). The effect of selective grazing on animal output.Proceedings of 8th International Grassland Congress8: 601-606.
- [32] WILKINS, H. L., BATES, R. P., HENSON, P. R., LINDEAL, I. L. AND DAVIS, R. E. (1999). Tannin and palatability in *sericea-lespedeza*. L. cuneata. Agronomy Journal 45:335-336.
- [33] KAITHO, R. J., UMUNNA, N. N., NSAHLAI, I. V., TAMMINGA, S., VAN BRUCHEM, J. AND HANSON, J. (1997). Palatability of wilted and dried multipurpose tree species fed to sheep and goats. Animal Feed Science and Technology 65: 151-163. [34] LU, C. D. (1988). Grazing behaviour and diet selection of goats. Small Ruminant Research. 205-216.
- [34] LU, C. D. (1988). Grazing behaviour and diet selection of goats. Small Ruminant Research. 205-216.
- [35] DE ROSA, G., FEDELE, V., NAPOLITANO, F., GUBITOSI, L., BORD, A. AND RUBINO, R. (1997). Diet preference in adult and juvenile goats. Animal Science 65: 457-463.
- [36] TRIBE, D. E (1952). The relation of palatability to nutritive value and its importance in the utilization of herbage by grazing animals. Proceedings of 6th International Grassland11:1265-1270.
- [37] ALBRECHT, W. A. (1945). Discriminations in food selection by animals. Sci. Month. 60: 347-352.
- [38] FROST, B. AND RUYLE, G. B. (1993). Range management terms and definitions. Arizona Ranchers Management Guide. Arizona Cooperative Extension.